
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/mercury/inc5/
Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 28 No. 20 Thursday, 17 January 2013

Earth Negotiations Bulletin
#5

INC5

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Pia M. Kohler, Ph.D., Elisa Morgera, Ph.D., Keith Ripley, 
Nicole Schabus and Elsa Tsioumani. The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editors are Jessica Templeton, Ph.D., and Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. 
<pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of 
the Bulletin are the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the German Federal Ministry for Economic 
Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), and the 
Government of Australia. General Support for the Bulletin during 2013 is provided by the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for 
Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), and the United Nations 
Environment Programme (UNEP). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the Government of France, the Belgium 
Walloon Region, Québec, and the International Organization of the Francophone (OIF and IEPF). The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those 
of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate 
academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, 
+1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, NY 10022 USA. The ENB team at INC5 can be contacted by e-mail at <elisa@iisd.org>.

http://enb.iisd.mobi/

MERCURY INC5 HIGHLIGHTS: 
WEDNESDAY, 16 JANUARY 2013

On Wednesday, INC5 delegates met in plenary in the morning 
to hear reports from contact and other small groups, and in 
the afternoon to hear high-level remarks. Contact groups met 
throughout the day on: selected technical articles; finance, 
technical assistance and technology transfer; emissions and 
releases; and articles of a legal nature. Another “Swiss Break” 
was held in the evening.

MORNING PLENARY
Co-Chair Roberts reported on the contact group on emissions 

and releases, including: agreement to retain two separate articles 
on emissions and on releases, and to ensure flexibility with 
regard to measures on releases; consideration of open burning of 
waste as a source of air emissions; and need for further work on 
the need for a list of specified sources for releases and on control 
measures for emissions.

Co-Chairs Katerina Sebkova (Czech Republic) and 
Luis Espinosa (Ecuador) reported on the contact group on 
implementation plans and health aspects. They noted the 
establishment of: a drafting group focused on clarifying issues 
on implementation plans, as well as inputs into the final 
declaration to advance work in the interim period; and an 
informal “Friends of Health” group to identify common ground 
on health aspects.

Co-Chair Olanipekun reported on the contact group on 
selected technical articles, introducing a submission on articles 
6 and 8 and annex C (UNEP(DTIE)/Hg/INC.5/CRP.14) with 
several brackets outstanding. She pleaded with delegates to 
be flexible in finalizing the work of the group. ALGERIA 
introduced a submission (UNEP(DTIE)/Hg/INC.5/CRP.8/
Rev.1) supported by the Group of Arab States, on compensation 
for countries with mercury deposits if they renounce 
exploitation. Chair Lugris noted a link with financial assistance 
and capacity building, suggesting consultations with the group.

Co-Chair Guthrie reported that the Friends of the Co-Chairs 
group on technical assistance and technology transfer had 
developed a compromise proposal for a single article containing 
separate paragraphs on technical assistance, capacity building 
and technology transfer. 

The US reported on agreement reached through informal 
discussions on Article 27, whereby a 3/4 majority vote is needed 
for adopting an amendment to the convention when consensus is 
not attainable; and at least “3/4 of the parties that were parties at 
the time of the amendment” have to ratify the amendment for it 
to enter into force.  

KENYA inquired about a discussion on the title of the 
proposed instrument on mercury.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES: Chair Lugris asked for 
an update on informal consultations on financial resources. 
BRAZIL reported that several parties have been engaging in 
informal consultations on Article 15, but positions remain 
polarized, which was neither in the interest of the process nor 
of developing countries. Supported by CHINA, he requested 
an opportunity for a larger group of developing countries to 
meet. GRULAC, supported by SWITZERLAND, called for 
an inclusive, accessible and effective financial mechanism that 
enables implementation consistent with national implementation 
plans. SWITZERLAND then encouraged delegates to move 
away from a developed-developing country perspective, as 
finance is in the interest of all wishing for an effective treaty.

CHINA called for an innovative financial mechanism and 
underscored the need to address this issue before consideration 
of a compliance regime. COLOMBIA suggested building on 
existing mechanisms, and seeking complementary resources 
from the private sector. 

AFTERNOON PLENARY
Federal Councillor and Swiss Minister of the Environment 

Doris Leuthard called on delegates to reach compromise on the 
most effective common solution to the global mercury challenge. 
She emphasized: effective financial, capacity and technical 
support to achieve the convention objectives; GEF as an 
essential, but not the only, element of the financial mechanism 
for the instrument; interim support before the instrument enters 
into force; significantly reducing mercury supply and ending 
primary mercury mining; and a combination of ambitious phase-
out obligations and control measures, and an implementation and 
compliance mechanism to identify and resolve implementation 
difficulties. She pledged one million CHF for interim support.

Highlighting governments’ duty of care to their citizens, 
UNEP Executive Director Achim Steiner stressed that a 
multilateral treaty should provide for meaningful action and add 
value to the actions of individual states. He noted that the art 
of negotiation is not only to represent one’s interest, but also 
to assist others to meet theirs, particularly when it comes to 
finance.

The EU prioritized action on primary mining, emissions and 
products. He urged cooperation and accountability through a 
robust compliance regime, and donor support through financial 
and technical assistance and by promoting technology transfer, 
via GEF as the financial mechanism. URUGUAY called for 
flexibility and creativity to find common ground, and stressed 
the need for financial resources, both in the interim and after the 



Thursday, 17 January 2013   Vol. 28 No. 20  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

treaty’s entry into force. Highlighting the principle of common 
but differentiated responsibilities, and the need for financial 
and technical support and sufficient time to adapt, CHINA drew 
attention to national measures to address mercury contamination.

JAPAN announced a contribution for interim support at a 
level at least equivalent to that of the contributions pledged by 
other countries, and a possible additional contribution relative to 
the level of ambition of the convention for the period prior to the 
diplomatic conference. NORWAY underscored commitment to 
concluding an ambitious treaty and supporting the interim phase 
by pledging 1 million USD for “measures on the ground.”

CHILE reaffirmed the need for a clear definition of mercury 
compounds. The AFRICAN GROUP encouraged others to 
engage in the Global Mercury Partnership as a vehicle for 
ongoing action prior to early entry into force, and called for 
a PIC procedure for the export of mercury-added products to 
Africa. The RUSSIAN FEDERATION stressed the importance of 
flexibility for developing countries and countries with economies 
in transition. 

CONTACT GROUPS 
SELECTED TECHNICAL ARTICLES: The group 

continued discussion of article 3 (supply and trade). Some 
delegations sought to delete provisions on imports of mercury 
and mercury compounds, arguing that the provision regulating 
exports of mercury and mercury compounds made it unnecessary. 
The group also debated whether to delete references to prior 
written consent. Other issues raised included whether to allow 
exports for purposes of interim storage in an environmentally 
sound manner, and whether to have exports to non-parties be 
contingent on certification that the mercury will be managed in 
an environmentally sound manner in the importing state.

EMISSIONS AND RELEASES: While a small drafting 
group considered releases, the contact group continued 
deliberations on article 10 (emissions) and annex F (list of 
point sources of emissions of mercury and its compounds to the 
atmosphere). On the annex, following informal consultations, 
the contact group considered replacing references to lead, 
zinc, copper and industrial gold production facilities with a 
single reference to smelting and roasting processes used in the 
production of non-ferrous metals, with a note specifying that, for 
the purpose of the annex, non-ferrous metals refer to lead, zinc, 
copper and industrial gold. On article 10, the group discussed, 
inter alia: the need for flexibility in addressing existing sources; 
a paragraph setting the objective of the article; and whether 
to provide for emissions to be “controlled,” “reduced,” or 
“controlled and reduced where feasible.” 

ARTICLES OF A LEGAL NATURE: The group started 
working on definitions (article 2). On “mercury compounds,” 
delegates discussed the Chair’s text referring to any substance 
consisting of identical molecules of mercury and one or more 
other chemical elements, and Chile’s submission (UNEP(DTIE)/
Hg/INC.5/CRP.9) referring to any substance that contains atoms 
of mercury of constant chemical composition and characteristic 
properties that cannot be separated into components by 
physical separation methods. The group agreed that “mercury 
compounds” mean any substance consisting of atoms of mercury 
and one or more atoms of other chemical elements that can be 
separated into different components only by chemical reactions. 
Chile’s proposal that the definition shall not be construed to 
include naturally occurring quantities of mercury compounds 
present in soil, minerals, ores and mineral products except those 
from primary mercury mining, pending discussions in other 
contact groups, remained in brackets.

In the afternoon, the group focused on the relationship 
with other international agreements. Delegates found common 
ground on language stating that: the provisions of the mercury 
convention shall not affect the rights and obligations of any 
party deriving from existing international agreements; parties 
recognize that the mercury convention and other international 
agreements in the field of the environment and trade are mutually 
supportive; and nothing in the mercury convention prevents a 
party from taking additional domestic measures consistent with 
the provisions of the mercury convention in an effort to protect 
human health and the environment from mercury exposure in 
accordance with the party’s other obligations under applicable 
international law. Delegates did not reach a conclusion on the 
placement of the provisions in the preamble or in any of the 
operative articles. 

FINANCE, TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE AND 
TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER: The contact group started off 
discussing interim financial arrangements, focusing on possible 
enabling activities, including for ratification, and possible early 
action, taking into account urgent issues and country-specific 
priorities. They also discussed currently available funding 
sources, including from the GEF; the need for additional 
funding; and examples of interim financing under other MEAs.

Co-Chair Guthrie then introduced a compromise proposal on 
article 16 including paragraphs on technical assistance, capacity 
building, the tasks of the COP and technology transfer. On 
technology transfer, the proposal required developed country 
parties, and other parties within their capabilities, to promote and 
facilitate, supported by the private sector and other stakeholders 
as appropriate, the development, transfer and diffusion of, 
and access to, updated environmentally sound alternative 
technologies to developing country parties, in particular LDCs 
and SIDS, and economies in transition to strengthen their 
capacity to effectively implement the convention.

Discussion focused on whether the provision was directed 
at “other parties within their capabilities,” alongside developed 
countries, and whether to “promote and facilitate” technology 
transfer. A number of developing countries favored a direct 
obligation focused on developed countries.

IN THE CORRIDORS
While delegates were increasingly reminded of the fast-

approaching deadline to reach agreement, securing financial 
resources remained the elephant in the room. For the third 
plenary in a row, Chair Lugris was met with either silence 
or not so encouraging news when asking about the status of 
informal consultations on the issue. Some thought this is not too 
surprising given that the usual heavy-hitters on financing have 
been tied up in discussions on technology transfer, adding that, 
probably for the same reasons, opportunities to bridge the gap 
between those who favor GEF (or feel GEF is the only realistic 
option) and those who insist on a Montreal Protocol-like fund 
have not yet materialized.

Meanwhile, many saw the 3+ million in pledges for interim 
support  announced in plenary as giving a much-needed impetus 
to the negotiations. An anxious delegate, however, exclaimed: 
“We will not need interim financing if we cannot agree on the 
financial mechanism and provisions for the treaty in the first 
place!” Leaving financial issues to the last minute is a well-
known approach to try and strike a grand compromise at the 
opportune moment, another participant remarked, hoping that the 
right catalyst will come along sooner rather than later.



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


